

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

Theses and Dissertations

2021-12-16

Utilizing Isothermal Titration Calorimetry for Measuring Beta-Galactosidase Activity in Liquid Dairy Products

Eliza Anne Brock Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd

Part of the Life Sciences Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Brock, Eliza Anne, "Utilizing Isothermal Titration Calorimetry for Measuring Beta-Galactosidase Activity in Liquid Dairy Products" (2021). *Theses and Dissertations*. 9346. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/9346

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Utilizing Isothermal Titration Calorimetry for Measuring Beta-Galactosidase

Activity in Liquid Dairy Products

Eliza Anne Brock

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Jason Donald Kenealey, Chair Oscar Pike Frost Steele

Department of Nutrition, Dietetics, and Food Science

Brigham Young University

Copyright © 2021 Eliza Anne Brock

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Utilizing Isothermal Titration Calorimetry for Measuring Beta-Galactosidase Activity in Liquid Dairy Products

Eliza Anne Brock Department of Nutrition, Dietetics, and Food Science, BYU Master of Science

This research explores Isothermal Titration Calorimetry as a method for measuring betagalactosidase activity directly and continuously in milk, sweet whey, sweet whey permeate, acid whey, and acid whey permeate. Beta-galactosidase in various concentrations was injected into each of the liquid dairy products spiked with lactose to verify if the heat rate from the enzymatic reaction could be observed. In addition, a consistent concentration of beta-galactosidase was injected into various concentrations of lactose in the products, to observe the heat rates from the enzymatic reaction. There was exothermic activity that never returned to baseline demonstrated in milk, sweet whey, and sweet whey permeate with beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in runs done in the isothermal titration calorimeter. The baseline was approximately 3-9 uJ/s above the control's baseline at the end of the runs. The exothermic activity ranged from approximately 2-10 uJ/s and did not return to baseline when beta-galactosidase concentrations were varied and lactose concentrations remained the same. The exothermic heat rate was approximately 3-7 uJ/s when lactose concentrations were varied and enzyme concentrations remained the same. With runs with increasing lactose concentrations, there was no corresponding increase in the exothermal reaction indicating saturation of the enzyme. There was a short exothermic reaction(s), ranging from approximately 3-26 uJ/s, demonstrated when varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus orvzae in acid whey and acid whey permeate were injected into a consistent concentration of lactose in acid whey and acid whey permeate. There was a pattern of increasing heat with increasing concentrations of enzyme, with some of these differences being statistically significant. There was also a short exothermic reaction(s), ranging from approximately 2-17 uJ/s, demonstrated when a consistent concentration of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae was injected into varying concentrations of lactose. There was a pattern of increasing heat rate with increasing concentrations of lactose, with some of these differences being statistically significant. This research demonstrates that ITC is a useful method for measuring residual beta-galactosidase and/or residual lactose in liquid dairy products. This research leads to further understanding of how enzymes and substrates interact directly in the food matrix, rather than in an isolated environment.

Keywords: whey, milk, beta-galactosidase, isothermal titration calorimeter, enzyme activity

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Learning how to be a researcher has been an amazing and rewarding process. It has been a road of uncharted territories for me. I have been blessed to have the best people around me to walk beside me and guide me through the process.

Dr. Kenealey has been the best advisor for me. He has been so patient with my lack of experience! He offered me great prospective and regularly helped me to take a step back and see the big picture of my goals in my research and academics. He helped me learn to salvage the pieces of my research that didn't go as planned but provided insight and to recognize all the progress that has been made. He helped me shift my perspective from one where the end goal always had to look like I pictured beforehand, to one where I could appreciate all the discoveries and learning that takes place on an unexpected road. He buoyed me up by caring and investing in my growth as a researcher, student, future professional, mother, and individual person. He gave valuable constructive feedback, cross-examined my research and writing, and pushed me to clarify, increase my understanding, and make connections. He pushed me out of my comfort zone over and over again so I could share my findings through my writing and presentations. He provided the perfect level of autonomy and support by allowing me to just go in the lab and not be afraid to try, while I often fell flat on my face, but learned a great deal from the process. I greatly appreciate his friendship and willingness to mentor me.

My committee members, Dr. Frost Steele and Dr. Oscar Pike, were wonderful mentors as well. They provided me with valuable feedback and were there with any questions I had. I have appreciated their friendship and expertise. In addition, all of the faculty of the Food Science department at BYU were resources during my research and cared about the progress of my project. I feel I have an ally with each of them.

Dr. Lee Hansen, a BYU emeritus professor, provided valuable insight throughout my project, thanks to his vast knowledge of calorimetry and genuine love of learning. His edits to my thesis provided clarity and his method of reviewing my data provided me with insight as I worked to draw conclusions.

I am grateful to Build Dairy for providing the funding for my research and schooling.

My lab mates, Tyler, Charity, Spencer, Isabella, Ian, Courtney, Annie, and Matt, have been great friends, provided constructive feedback on many occasions, and been a breath of fresh air when I've been bogged down in research, academics, or life.

These last few years have been quite the journey for my family with my program and at home. My children and parents have been my greatest cheerleaders! They have sacrificed time and resources so that I could be successful as a student and researcher. My children have never complained about the transition, and my parents have quietly picked up the pieces that I have been unable to balance so that my children largely experienced continuity at home and in their activities. I have received many prayers and participated in many celebrations along this journey thanks to these dear people.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE i
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS iv
LIST OF TABLES vi
LIST OF FIGURES
LITERATURE REVIEW
Bovine Milk
Whey & Whey Permeate
Enzymes of the Dairy Industry
Beta-galactosidase7
Other Methods for Measuring Enzymes of the Dairy Industry11
Isothermal Titration Calorimetry
Hypothesis and Objectives:
Materials and Chemicals16
Methods16
Statistics
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
Milk
Sweet Whey
Sweet Whey Permeate
Acid Whey
Acid Whey Permeate
Conclusion
REFERENCES
APPENDIX A
Background-Lactic Acid Bacteria
Steps Taken to Reject Original Hypothesis
REFERENCES FOR APPENDIX A

COMPLETE LIST OF REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Composition of Bovine Milk	Table 2: Composition of Proteins in Milk	1
Table 3: Enzymes of the Dairy Industry	······ ,	7

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	. 2
Figure 2	. 3
Figure 3. Heat rates over time of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from	
Kluyveromyces lactis in milk spiked with 500mM lactose, pH= 6.37	19
Figure 4. Heat rates of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lact	is
n milk spiked with 500mM lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.37	19
Figure 5. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in	l
nilk with varying concentrations of lactose, pH= 6.37	20
Figure 6. Heat rates of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in milk wit	h
varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.37	21
Figure 7. Heat rates over time for varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from	
Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey spiked with 500mM lactose, pH=6.51	23
Figure 8. Heat rates of beta-galactosidase for varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase fro	m
Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey spiked with 500mM lactose at 600(s) after injection,	
pH=6.51	24
Figure 9: Heat rate over time of 450mM lactose injected into various concentrations of beta-	
galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in sodium acetate buffer, pH=4.6	24
Figure 10. Heat rate over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis i	n
sweet whey with varying concentrations of lactose, pH= 6.51	26
Figure 11. Heat rate over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis i	n
sweet whey with varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.51	26
Figure 12. Heat rates over time for varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from	
Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey permeate spiked with 500mM lactose, pH= 6.39	28
Figure 13. Heat rates of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces	
actis in sweet whey permeate spiked with 500mM lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.39	28
Figure 14. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis	in
sweet whey permeate with varying concentrations of lactose, $pH=6.39$	29
Figure 15. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis	in
sweet whey permeate with varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.39	30
Figure 16. Heat rates over time of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from	
Aspergillus oryzae in acid whey spiked with 500mM lactose, pH=4.16	32
Figure 17. Heat rates of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae	in
acid whey spiked with 500mM lactose at 50(s) after injection, pH=4.16	33
Figure 18. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in	
acid whey with varying concentrations of lactose at $600(s)$ after injection, pH= 4.16	35
Figure 19. Heat rates of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in acid whey	,
with varying concentrations of lactose at 50(s) after injection, pH=4.16	36
Figure 20: Heat rates over time of 0.667 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in	n
milk spiked with lactose, pH=6.37	37
Figure 21: Heat rates over time of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from	_
Kluyveromyces lactis in acid whey spiked with 500mM lactose, pH=4.16	37

Figure 22. Heat rates over time of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Asper	gillus
oryzae in acid whey permeate spiked with 500mM lactose, pH= 4.03	39
Figure 23. Heat rates of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryz	zae in
acid whey permeate spiked with 500mM lactose at 50(s) after injection, pH=4.03	39
Figure 24. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae	in in
acid whey permeate with varying concentrations of lactose, pH= 4.03.	40
Figure 25. Heat rates of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in acid with	hey
permeate with varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=4.03	41
Figure 26: Homofermentation Figure 27: Heterofermentation	50
Figure 28: BCA results of supernatant after sonication and centrifugation	53
Figure 29:	54

LITERATURE REVIEW

Bovine Milk

Cow's milk is a complex food matrix that provides all nutrients for growth in the neonate period of a cow's life. Milk contains proteins, fat, lactose, and minerals (1). The lipids are emulsified globules that are coated with a membrane and the proteins are micelles in a colloidal dispersion. The proximate composition of cow's milk is in TABLE 1 (2). The composition of types of proteins in cow's milk is in TABLE 2 (3, 4).

Composition	WT% (wwb)
Protein	3.4%
Casein	2.8%
Fat	3.7%
Lactose	4.6%
Ash	0.7%

Table 1: Composition of Bovine Milk

Protein	WT% (wwb)
αs1-casein	1.2
αs2-casein	0.3
β-casein	1.0
к-casein	0.35
γ-casein	0.12
α-lactalbumin	0.12
β-lactoglobulin	0.32
Serum Albumin	0.04
Immunoglobulins	0.08
Proteose-peptone fraction	0.1

Table 2: Composition of Proteins in Milk

Milk is generally pasteurized to kill harmful bacteria for the safety of consumers. During pasteurization, raw chilled milk passes between two stainless steel plates that heat the milk to 161°F for 15 seconds. The milk is then quickly cooled back to 39°F (5). Milk can also be

sterilized to create shelf-stable milk by ultra-high temperature pasteurization in which milk is heated to 280-300°F for 2-6 seconds. The sterilized milk is placed in sterile packaging in a sterile environment. Sterilization allows the unopened milk to last about six months (6). Milk can be consumed as a fluid, or can be made into many other products. Examples include cheese, yogurt, Greek yogurt, cream cheese, sour cream, and butter.

Whey & Whey Permeate

Dairy foods are popular among consumers throughout the world. A common byproduct of the dairy industry is whey. Whey is a high protein and high lactose watery thin liquid obtained by separating the coagulum from whole milk, cream, or skim milk during cheese and yogurt making (7). Whey was discovered around 3000 years ago when calves' stomachs, which contain the enzyme chymosin, also known as rennet, were used to store and transport milk. The result was curds and whey which provided the beginnings of cheese making (8).

Hard cheese is made is by adding rennet and starter culture to milk, which causes coagulation. After coagulation, the curd is cut and the sweet whey is drained from the curd. The

Figure 1



being packaged and sold (Figure
1). For every pound of hard
cheese that is made, nine pounds
of sweet whey is leftover (9).
Given that in the U.S. in 2017,
12.7 billion pounds of cheese was
produced (10), 114 billion pounds

curd is then pressed and aged prior to

or 52 billion kilograms of sweet whey was the byproduct. There is a need for research to increase the opportunities and efficiencies of whey.

Greek yogurt is made by heating and then cooling milk. Bacteria is added to the milk followed by a period of incubation. Acid whey is then strained from the yogurt. Fruit and





Greek yogurt prior to being packaged and sold (Figure 2). The strained whey can be utilized for protein content, and far more whey permeate (whey after protein removed) remains than can currently be used. Only about 50% of

or/flavorings are added to the

residual whey is being recycled for the production of value-added products in the food and chemical industries (11).

For every pound of Greek yogurt that is produced, three pounds of whey is leftover (12), which provides plenty of need for innovation. Today, due to the popularity of cheese and strained yogurts (such as Greek or Icelandic yogurts), quantities of whey being produced continue to grow at a rate of >2% per year (13). In 2006, the estimated worldwide production of whey was 190×10^9 kilograms per year (14).

Throughout most of history, whey was discarded and sometimes viewed as a noxious byproduct (14). However, in the 17th, 18th, and early 19th centuries, whey was valued as a fashionable drink, a medicinal agent that was effective against various ailments, and even as a liquid suitable for bathing. During these years when whey was a fashionable drink, "whey houses" existed, similar to a bistro or coffee shop today, where they served whey porridge, whey soup, whey tea, and whey butter (15). Bathing in whey was popular at health spas based on its presumed skin healing and topical health-promoting properties (16). Currently, there are still a few whey spas that can be found in Europe (17).

The protein from whey is often filtered off for use in other products that can be sold independently, such as whey protein powder or can be added to other products, such as bars. After the protein has been removed, whey permeate remains. In 2015, the US produced an estimated 475,000 kilograms of whey permeate, which is a 48% increase from 2010 (18). This presents an opportunity for innovation to use the whey permeate.

Because disposal of whey permeate presents some serious challenges, industry requires innovation for use of whey permeate. Whey permeate is a pollutant to the environment primarily due to the lactose, which is a large part of the composition of whey permeate. On a dry weight basis, sweet whey permeate, the byproduct of cheese making, is composed of 86% lactose, 2.4% lactic acid, and 8.8% ash. On a dry weight basis, acid whey permeate, the byproduct of strained yogurt and soft cheese making, is composed of 74% lactose, 7.5% lactic acid, and 9.7% ash (19). Whey permeate has a Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) of 30-50 g/L (20), with lactose responsible for 90% of the BOD. The BOD of whey permeate is higher because the lactose becomes more concentrated when the protein is removed (21). These high BOD values have led to an increase in regulations aimed to protect wildlife and the environment. These increased measures to protect the environment have led to an increase in costs to industry for disposal of the toxic waste and provides opportunities for innovation.

Utilizing whey has been the focus of much research and innovation, and progress has been made. Historically, whey has been viewed as a waste stream with need of disposal in the most economical ways because of its lack of perceived value. Whey has been discharged into rivers, lakes, and the ocean, but the high polluting power of whey makes the disposal unethical and is now restricted in many parts of the world. Whey has been (and is currently) sprayed onto fields as a fertilizer, but the smells and salts produced have caused problems. Whey has been sent to the municipal sewage system, but with the BOD of whey being around 175-fold higher than typical sewage effluent, it can easily overload the system and is expensive or prohibited. Whey has been (and can be) sold as animal feed for a low return (8). Whey has made progress from being a nuisance to being more valuable primarily because of the protein content. Whey protein is popular among consumers because of its high biological value (BV), which is a measure of how well and how quickly the body can utilize the protein consumed. In fact, the BV is 15% higher than egg protein which was the former benchmark (8). Whey proteins are available that have undergone different processing with the result of varying compositions and levels of protein. Examples are whey protein concentrate, whey protein isolate, and whey protein hydrolysate.

Industry has made progress in making use of whey permeate (deproteinized whey) as well, with plenty of room remaining for innovation and improvement. The carbohydrate lactose is a major source of value in the whey permeate. The lactose can be used as a source of carbohydrate in infant formulas and as an excipient in food processing and pharmaceuticals. In the confectionary industry lactose can serve as the reducing sugar for maillard browning and to adsorb dyes and flavors. In the pharmaceutical industry, about 70% of tablets have lactose as the carrier for drugs because it is not sweet and makes good quality tablets (22). It has been

demonstrated that whey permeate can be used directly as a substrate for the growth of different microorganisms to obtain products such as ethanol, lactic acid, citric acid, biogas, and more (23), although not all are commercially viable at this time. Again, with only about 50% of residual whey being recycled for the production of value-added products in the food and chemical industries, there is room for further research and innovation on the utilization of all components of sweet and acid whey (11).

Enzymes of the Dairy Industry

Enzymes are proteins that decrease the activation energy for a chemical reaction and increase the speed of a chemical reaction without being consumed by the reaction. Enzymes are highly specific, typically only catalyzing one type of reaction with one substrate or class of substrates (24). Enzyme activity can be optimized through pH and temperature alterations and sometimes by the addition or removal of co-factors. A reaction between an enzyme and substrate is either endothermic, requiring energy from the environment, or exothermic, expelling energy into the environment. The amount of heat required or released can be increased or decreased based on alterations to the concentration of substrate.

There are many enzymes that are important for the dairy industry. They play a role in food processing, safety, and flavor profile development through their activity. TABLE 3 is a summary of enzymes utilized in the dairy industry and their function.

Enzyme	Function
Rennet	Curdles milk in the first phase of cheese processing (25).
Protease	Decreases the time required for cheese aging, changes milk proteins to decrease the allergic effects of cow milk products in infant foods (26).
Lactase (beta-galactosidase)	Increases solubility and sweet flavor. Hydrolyzes lactose into glucose and galactose for lactose-free products (27).
Lipase	Improvement of cheese flavors and separates milk fat (27).
Catalase	Converts hydrogen peroxide into water and oxygen during cheese making so that milk for cheeses, such as Swiss, does not need to be thermally pasteurized (27, 28).
Transglutaminase	Improves functional properties of yogurt made from goat milk by enhancing gel stability and reducing syneresis (27, 29).
Lysozyme	Lysozyme lowers the quantity of bacteria in milk without influencing <i>Bifidobacterium</i> in fermented milks (30).

Table 3: Enzymes of the Dairy Industry

Beta-galactosidase

In the 1880's and 1890's, many enzymes were described. Beta-galactosidase, more commonly known as lactase, is an enzyme that hydrolyzes lactose to glucose and galactose. In 1889, Martinus Willem Beijerinch, of the Netherlands, was the first scientist to document a lactose hydrolyzing enzyme (beta-galactosidase) (31). Due to some ambiguity with the results of his bioassay, a few years later the results were credited to Fischer (32). Beta-galactosidase is a tetramer with 222-point symmetry (33). The 1,023-amino-acid polypeptide chain (34, 35) folds into five domains with an extended segment at the amino terminus (33).

Beta-galactosidase was originally discovered to be produced by yeast (the word enzyme literally means "in yeast" in Greek) species *S. kefyr* and *S. tyrocola* (31). Now it is known that

beta-galactosidase is produced by a wide variety of microorganisms, including yeasts, fungi, and bacteria. Beta-galactosidase is also made by many plants and mammals (36). Beta-galactosidase from different sources have different characteristics, such as pH and temperature optimums. Beta-galactosidase in industry is primarily obtained from the yeast, *Kluyveromyces*, and the fungus, *Aspergillus (37)*. In industry, the most commonly used sources of beta-galactosidase are microbial because of the higher productivity, which leads to decreased costs. Basically, the source of the enzyme is chosen based on the required reaction conditions (38). For example, fungal beta-galactosidase generally has a pH optimum from 2.5-5.4, which makes them most effective in acidic environments, such as acid whey. Beta-galactosidases from bacterial sources have been used for lactose hydrolysis because of the ease of fermentation, high enzyme activity, and good enzyme stability (39).

Beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus Oryzae* has an optimal pH of 4.75 and optimal temperature of 60°C, which makes it more suitable for use in liquid dairy products, such as acid whey and acid whey permeate (40). The optimal pH and temperature of beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* is 6.5-7.0 and 35-45°C, respectively, which makes it more suitable for use in milk, sweet whey, and sweet whey permeate (41).

Beta-galactosidase from different sources are intracellular or extracellular. In some fungi the beta-galactosidase activity has been found to be extracellular, while beta-galactosidases from yeast and bacteria are generally intracellular (42). *Streptococcus pneumoniae* has been found to have β -1,4-galactosidase and β -1,3-galactosidase on the cell surface rather than intracellularly. The genes responsible for the enzyme being extracellular in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* are BgaA and BgaC (43).

Beta-galactosidase is a valuable enzyme in the food industry because it hydrolyzes lactose. Beta-galactosidase is used to create lactose free dairy products. Lactose intolerance means that a person lacks beta-galactosidase production in the jejunum. Beta-galactosidase is generally present in the intestines during the breast-feeding period because lactose is the primary source of carbohydrates for infants. In most individuals, beta-galactosidase production decreases at some point after weaning and creates symptoms of lactose intolerance (38). Prior to approximately 10,000 years ago, everyone became lactose intolerant after weaning. However, due to genetic mutation, certain groups of people, all raising cattle or camels, from Northern Europe, East Africa, and the Middle East developed the ability to produce beta-galactosidase for life (44).

When the body is unable to digest or hydrolyze lactose due to a lack of betagalactosidase, the lactose increases fluid secretion in the small intestine. Lactose passes into the colon where microbes convert it into short-chain fatty acids, carbon dioxide, hydrogen, and methane (45). This leads to symptoms such as flatulence, diarrhea, bloating, and cramps when lactose is consumed. Lactose intolerance affects about 70% of the world's population (38).

Beta-galactosidase can also be used to make beta-galactooligosacharrides (GOS). GOS are a prebiotic produced by transglycosylation during the hydrolysis of lactose (38). GOS and prebiotics in general have been demonstrated to have positive health effects, such as stool improvement, mineral absorption, weight management, and allergy alleviation (46). GOS improves intestinal flora, immunity, reduces blood fat, and helps the body resist tumors and aging (47). Health benefits of yogurt can be improved if beta-galactosidase is incorporated into the milk while producing yogurt because the GOS content of yogurt can be increased up to 30x (48). Due to these health benefits, GOS are ideal for use in functional foods. GOS can be used

as a sweetener and, compared to lactose and other larger sugar molecules, are less likely to cause cavities, have a lower caloric value, and lower sweetness profile (49).

In addition to the health benefits, GOS have characteristics that improve sensory and functional aspects. Because lactose is hygroscopic, it undergoes crystallization in food products (38). Beta-galactosidase eliminates lactose crystallization in such products. Crystallization is particularly of concern in frozen desserts and confectionaries where lactose has a gritty texture that affects sensory characteristics. In yogurts and desserts, GOS can be used as a replacement for sugar, leading to improved texture and mouthfeel, and increased fiber. In bakery applications, GOS can be used as a sugar replacement and to increase fiber. Moisture retention of the product also increases (46). GOS have similar applications in baby food, fillings, confectionaries, and sauces (50).

The long-term outlook for GOS looks good with the global market size projected to reach \$1.58 billion by 2025, which represents a growth rate of 9.6%. GOS used to augment infant formula is anticipated to drive this growth (51). The unit price for lactose is approximately \$0.80/kg (52), while after the transformation, the GOS price is approximately \$5.80/kg (53). Beta-galactosidase could be used in industrial synthesis of GOS and provides an excellent increase in value for the nuisance of lactose in whey permeate.

Uses for beta-galactosidase expand outside of the food industry. Beta-galactosidase enzymes are used to create pills that people with lactose intolerance can consume during ingestion of dairy products to alleviate the effects of lactose intolerance. Beta-galactosidase can be used as the catalyst during fermentation of lactose to produce ethanol (54). In the case of low-price bulk products, like ethanol, the cost of beta-galactosidase is the problem that limits the economic feasibility of the fermentation process (55).

Research is needed to gain a better understanding of beta-galactosidase activity directly in the food matrix where it acts differently than in an isolated and controlled environment.

Other Methods for Measuring Enzymes of the Dairy Industry

There are many different methods available to measure enzyme activity. The challenge with most of these methods is that the enzyme needs to be isolated and purified in preparation for the assay; the enzyme cannot remain in the food matrix. Purification of the enzyme can be done with gel filtration, affinity chromatography, salting out, liquid chromatography, with organic solvents, column chromatography, and ion exchange (56). The food matrix will have an effect on how the enzyme will perform because the food matrix will contain other ingredients, including proteins that would interfere with many assays for measuring enzyme activity. In addition, during processing, packaging, and storage, the food can undergo changes in pH and/or temperature, and there could be interactions with salts that could increase or decrease enzyme activity (57). The food matrix has an effect when measuring enzyme activity using the ITC as well, but with ITC directly measuring heat changes, the heat change that occurs with interactions between the enzyme and substrate will still occur and be measurable.

In a clinical study, beta-galactosidase present in yogurt was indirectly measured by measuring breath hydrogen (58). Because people who are lactose intolerant do not make beta-galactosidase (or makes less), they will expel Hydrogen in their breath after consuming lactose as the body ferments the lactose in the colon (59). With the hydrogen being measured, this can determine how much beta-galactosidase is in the yogurt.

Some methods for measuring enzyme activity are direct and some are indirect, some are continuous and some discontinuous. When deciding what type of assay to perform when measuring enzyme activity, it is important to consider the goals of performing the assay and the capabilities of the method being used. With a direct continuous assay, absorbance, fluorescence, pH, optical rotation, conductivity, enthalpy, viscosity, or volume can all be used as methods for measuring enzyme activity (60). Spectrophotometric assays appear to be the most commonly used because they are accurate, reliable, and relatively cheap (61). A fluorometric assay can be used when a more sensitive assay is needed. The K_m value of an enzyme is the amount of substrate is takes for an enzyme to reach half of the enzymatic rate velocity (62). A more sensitive assay is needed when a limited amount of the enzyme is available or with a low K_m value for its substrates. With impure preparations or solutions that contain absorbing and/or particulate matter, optical assays may be difficult to perform with accuracy (60). Therefore, a food, such as milk or whey would not be a good candidate for an optical assay.

In an indirect assay, a substrate is directly modified by the enzyme, but the signal is produced by an interaction or reaction with another reagent (61). An indirect assay can be discontinuous or continuous. For a discontinuous indirect assay, radiochemical assays and liquid chromatographic systems can be used. The discontinuous assays provide less information about the nature of the reaction because snapshots are taken of the reaction, rather than a continuous flow of data that would demonstrate anomalous behavior. It is also more difficult to obtain an initial rate and to see any deviations from the initial linear phase. For a continuous indirect assay, the reaction is monitored continuously, rather than taking snapshots. They are less prone to errors compared to a discontinuous assay. A coupled assay is another type of indirect assay in which an additional enzyme is used to catalyze a reaction and yield a compound that can be

directly measured. Until the reaction reaches a steady-state velocity, the coupled assay will not provide an accurate measurement of enzyme activity (60).

The most commons assay for measuring beta-galactosidase is an indirect and colorimetric assay using a spectrophotometer and the substrate ortho-nitro-phenyl-galactoside (ONPG). ONPG has a similar structure to lactose, except it is made of galactose and ortho-nitrophenol, rather than galactose and glucose. When hydrolysis occurs, the ortho-nitrophenol turns yellow and has an absorbance at 420nm, which is then measured in the spectrophotometer and used to calculate enzyme activity (63).

Isothermal Titration Calorimetry

ITC directly measures the heat rate of a reaction. In an ITC, there are two cells that hold liquids. One cell, the reference cell, holds water and remains at the temperature that the user sets. The other cell is called the sample cell. In the case of measuring enzymatic activity, the solution containing the dissolved substrate (or enzyme) is placed in the sample cell. The solution with the enzyme (or substrate, if the enzyme solution is in the sample cell) is placed in the syringe and injected into the sample cell at the desired time. The rate of energy for the sample cell to remain at the same temperature as the reference cell is measured, creating the heat rate data in real-time.

ITC technology is primarily used in the pharmaceutical industry to measure binding affinities for ligands to proteins and is considered the gold standard for measuring molecular interactions, allowing researchers to better understand the chemistry and physics of these interactions. ITC allows for the studying of macromolecular complex formations, interaction

stoichiometries, thermodynamic correlations to binding interface areas, and the conformational changes that occur through interaction (64).

In the food industry, ITC has recently been used to better understand starch-fatty acid interactions (65). ITC has also been used to provide valuable information regarding dropletdroplet interactions in flocculated emulsions (66), such as are present in agrochemicals, biological fluids, cosmetics, explosives, petrochemicals, and pharmaceuticals (67). In addition, ITC has been used to study tannin-protein interactions, which has been a complex subject pertaining to human health (68). Thus far, the ITC has been largely underutilized in the food industry and shows high potential for furthering understanding of enzymes in food matrices.

ITC has notable positive characteristics, for measuring enzyme activity in real-time and continuously. There is no coupled or colorimetric assay needed. The ITC can provide kinetic and thermodynamic data simultaneously, and the assay is relatively simple and hands off. Once the calorimeter is cleaned, the solutions with substrate and enzyme are placed in the instrument and then the operator can do other things while the experiment is run and data is recorded. Because the ITC measures changes in heat rate, it can be used with liquids that are not translucent and/or have different colors or sediment. This is unique compared to most enzyme assays.

While the ITC is a powerful tool for measuring enzyme activity, a drawback in a complex system, such as milk, is that there are many endothermic and exothermic reactions taking place because of molecular interactions that occur due to dilution, e.g.; micelle formation and dissociation, conformational changes, aggregation, and phase transitions (69), which makes it hard to distinguish the enzyme-catalyzed reaction. Alternatively, the ITC has the ability to provide valuable information about the food matrix and the complex interactions involving food

components, such as proteins, carbohydrates, lipids, minerals, vitamins, minerals, and surfactants (69) in a unique manner. There are models of ITCs that hold more in the sample cell, which also makes them more sensitive.

The ITC is a unique tool that could be used to measure enzyme activity directly in milk, whey, and whey permeates. This could promote further research in the dairy industry to use the largely wasted carbohydrate lactose in whey permeate. The ITC could be used to measure the stability and activity of isolated enzymes or enzymes present in a matrix or interactions between enzymes and other proteins.

Hypothesis and Objectives:

Hypothesis: Isothermal Titration Calorimetry can be used as a method for distinguishing betagalactosidase concentrations in liquid dairy products with varying lactose concentrations.

Objectives:

- 1. Compare various concentrations of beta-galactosidase injected into a consistent concentration of lactose in each liquid dairy product.
- Compare a consistent concentration of beta-galactosidase injected into varying concentrations of lactose in each liquid dairy product.
- 3. Compare beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* in high acid liquid dairy products and beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* in low acid liquid dairy products.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials and Chemicals

Beta-galactosidase from *Kluveromyces lactis* (\geq 2600 units/g) was purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). Beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus Oryzae* (>5000 U/g) was purchased from MP Biomedicals LLC (Solon, OH, USA). The Nano-Isothermal Titration Calorimeter was manufactured by TA Instruments. The lactose is D-Lactose, anhydrous, 98%, obtained from BeanTown Chemical (Hudson, NH, USA). Acid whey and acid whey permeate was donated by the Danone plant in West Jordan, UT. The sweet whey and sweet whey permeate was donated by Glanbia in Twin Falls, ID. The shelf-stable milk was purchased from Natrel (St. Paul, MN, USA).

<u>Methods</u>

For lower pH liquids (acid whey and acid whey permeate), beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* was weighed out and placed in 1mL of the liquid of choice (acid whey or acid whey permeate) and centrifuged. Lactose was also weighed out and placed in another 1mL microfuge tube with 1mL of the same type of liquid. After the ITC was properly cleaned, 350uL of lactose solution was used to rinse the sample cell of the ITC. Then, 350uL of lactose solution was run.

The same procedure as above was followed for higher pH liquids (sweet whey, sweet whey permeate, and milk), except the source of beta-galactosidase was *Kluyveromyces lactis* and the ITC was run at 40°C.

All runs in the ITC were done in triplicate.

Statistics

For the statistical analysis, a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test was performed using GraphPad Prism version 9.2.0 for Windows, GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA, www.graphpad.com.

Statistical comparisons were performed at different time points on the data depending on the source of beta-galactosidase. In buffer, the heat of injection resolved within 40 seconds. Therefore, the data points needed to be collected after 40 seconds. Because the reactions vary significantly in length, depending on the source of beta-galactosidase, it seemed appropriate to collect data points from different lengths of time after injection depending on the source of the enzyme. After visually comparing the runs, it was determined that the curves flattened, became consistent, and there appeared to be no residual heat from the heat of injection at 600 seconds for runs with beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae*. Therefore, 600 seconds was used as the time point to run a comparison test to find statistical differences (α =0.05). In runs done with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis*, the reaction was much quicker. Therefore, 50 seconds was chosen because the heat of injection would have resolved and near the maximum heat of the reaction could be measured.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This research is valuable because it promotes further research for the use of whey and lactose through an effective method to measure lactose hydrolysis directly in milk, whey, and whey permeates without the need of isolation and purification of the enzyme. ITC can be used as a method to measure the reactions of other enzymes important to the food industry, directly in their food matrices, where they behave differently than when enzyme and substrate are isolated and purified.

Milk

When beta-galactosidase in milk is injected into the lactose and milk solution, there is a linear pattern of increasing heat rates over time with increasing concentrations of beta-galactosidase (figure 3). Beta-galactosidase was injected following 1500 seconds of instrument equilibration. At 600 seconds after injection, which is 2100(s) on the x-axis, mean heat rates were collected. The 600 second time point after injection was chosen because it is when the reaction had become steady. This time point was chosen for all runs in milk, sweet whey, and sweet whey permeate.

The mean heat rate for the control at 600 seconds is 0.18 uJ/s, for the 444.4 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 2.88 uJ/s, for the 888.9 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 6.09 uJ/s, and for the 1333.3 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 7.72 uJ/s. All p-values are significant (figure 4). Runs done in milk were the only runs that had statistical significance between each of the concentrations of enzyme.

Figure 3. Heat rates over time of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in milk spiked with 500mM lactose, pH= 6.37



Figure 4. Heat rates of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in milk spiked with 500mM lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.37



B-Gal Concentration (ug/mL)

When a consistent beta-galactosidase concentration in milk is injected into various concentrations of lactose in milk, there appears to be a pattern of increasing heat rates with increasing concentrations of lactose (figure 5). However, all p-values are >0.05 (figure 6), demonstrating no statistical significance. The top three lines with 100mM, 300mM, and 500mM lactose concentrations, are mostly level after the peak of injection and/or peak from an initial secondary reaction resolves, demonstrating the enzyme is saturated or nearly saturated and/or there is a secondary reaction or change of state. The bottom control line is not saturated, demonstrated by the decreasing heat rate.

Figure 5. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in milk with varying concentrations of lactose, pH= 6.37



Figure 6. Heat rates of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in milk with varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.37



Lactose Concentration (mM)

Sweet Whey

As shown in figure 7, when beta-galactosidase in sweet whey is injected into the lactose in sweet whey solution, there appears to be a linear pattern of increasingly exothermic heat rates with increasing concentrations of beta-galactosidase. At 600 seconds after injection, the mean heat rate for the control is -0.16 uJ/s, for the 444.4 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 4.25 uJ/s, for the 888.9 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 5.4 uJ/s, and for the 1333.3 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 9.72 uJ/s. However, the p-value is >0.05 in all comparisons, except 0 ug/mL vs. 1333.3 ug/mL, which had a p-value of 0.0023 (figure 8). There is an initial heat of injection at 1500 seconds and within about 600 seconds, the heat rate levels out and remains relatively steady throughout the remainder of the run. This heat rate appears to be a slow and steady reaction between the lactose and beta-galactosidase. However, from the literature and from a series of runs done in the ITC with beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae*, we know the reaction from beta-galactosidase to be endothermic and much faster (figure 9). The heat from injection of

beta-galactosidase in buffer only lasts about 40 seconds, which is much shorter than in most runs performed in the liquid dairy products, with the exception of some of the varying lactose concentrations in acid whey and acid whey permeate with beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae*. The cause of the unexpected longer and exothermic reaction is unknown. There appears to be a secondary reaction that is maintaining the heat rate or potentially a change of state caused by the enzymatic reaction. For example, it is possible that as the lactose is hydrolyzed into glucose and galactose, there is an increase in viscosity.

In the literature, a study was found where the ITC measured the enzyme activity when milk was injected into an acetate buffer with beta-galactosidase and milk spiked with lactose was injected into an acetate buffer with beta-galactosidase. The injections both resulted in an endothermic reaction, similar to those in figure 9 (70). However, when both the lactose and enzyme are in the liquid dairy products, the reaction demonstrated exothermic heat.

In research on the synthesis of GOS, based on ITC data with acetate buffer with pH 4.8 as the solution, it was also concluded that lactose hydrolysis is endothermic with betagalactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae*. The synthesis of galacto-oligosaccharides was determined to be endothermic, and the hydrolysis of galacto-oligosaccharides was determined to be exothermic. It is possible that the exothermic nature of these runs in all the liquid dairy products is due, at least in part, to the hydrolysis of galacto-oligosaccharides (71).

In addition, when GOS are produced in industry, beta-galactosidase shows higher transgalactosylation activity with high concentrations of lactose (71). The concentrations used in the present research were near or above the solubility limits of the solutions. One method to form GOS uses high concentrations of lactose in low acid solutions to increase GOS formation. Optimal GOS formation conditions could contribute to why the ITC data looks different in

solutions of different pH values (72). It has also been found that during GOS formation, covalent intermediates may form (73, 74). Reactions with and formation of these intermediates has the potential of changing the heat rates of the ITC data. Also important to note, is that many different types of GOS products can be formed through hydrolysis, which could also cause our results to look different in different solutions and with different sources of beta-galactosidase being used.

Also evident by the control lines on all of the graphs with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* varying lactose (figures 5, 10, and 14), is that there is enough lactose present naturally within the fluid dairy products to saturate the enzyme without the additional lactose.

Figure 7. Heat rates over time for varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey spiked with 500mM lactose, pH=6.51



Figure 8. Heat rates of beta-galactosidase for varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey spiked with 500mM lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.51



Figure 9: Heat rate over time of 450mM lactose injected into various concentrations of betagalactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in sodium acetate buffer, pH=4.6



As shown in figure 10, when a consistent beta-galactosidase concentration in sweet whey is injected into various concentrations of lactose and sweet whey, the difference in concentrations appears much tighter than with varying concentrations of enzyme. Upon visual observance, there appears to be a linear pattern of increasingly exothermic reactions with increasing concentrations of lactose. At about 700 seconds after injection, or 2200 seconds on the x-axis, the heat rate of the control begins to drop at a much higher rate than the solutions spiked with lactose. It is unknown why this would be the case with this run. It is interesting to note, that the control lines in both runs with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* and varying the concentrations of lactose in milk (Figure 5) and sweet whey (Figure 10), have a notable drop at about 2200 seconds. Because these runs were done in triplicate, for further observation, each individual run was compared, and two out of the three runs making up the averaged data (in both milk and sweet whey), appear to have drops in raw heat rates around 2200 seconds. It is unknown why there is this pattern, but is potentially due to the higher concentrations of fat in milk and sweet whey.

All p-values were >0.05, showing no statistical difference between the different concentrations of lactose (figure 11). The top three lines, with lactose concentrations of 100mM, 300mM, and 500mM demonstrate the enzyme is saturated or there is a secondary reaction or change of state. The control line is likely not saturated because the heat rate is gradually decreasing. The statistical data would have been different in figure 11 if a later time point had been chosen to compare heat rates.

Figure 10. Heat rate over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey with varying concentrations of lactose, pH= 6.51



Figure 11. Heat rate over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey with varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.51



Sweet Whey Permeate

Upon visual inspection, the graph of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase in sweet whey permeate (figure 12) appear similar to the same types of runs in sweet whey. When beta-galactosidase in sweet whey permeate is injected into the lactose and sweet whey permeate solution, there appears to be a linear pattern of increasing exothermic heat rates with increasing concentrations of beta-galactosidase. However, there is more statistical significance in the variation of heat rates between enzyme concentrations in sweet whey permeate than in sweet whey. At 600 seconds after injection, the mean heat rate for the control is 0.31 uJ/s, for the 444.4 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 2.27 uJ/s, for the 888.9 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 3.63 uJ/s, and for the 1333.3 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 5.61 uJ/s. The p-value of 0 ug/mL vs. 444.4 ug/mL is >0.05, 0 ug/mL vs. 888.9 ug/mL has a p-value of 0.03, 0 ug/mL vs. 1333.3 ug/mL has a p-value of 0.002, 444.4 ug/mL vs. 888.9 ug/mL has a p-value of 0.51, 444.4 ug/mL vs 1333.3 ug/mL has a p-value of 0.03, and 888.9 ug/mL vs. 1333.3 ug/mL has a p-value of 0.23 (figure 13). In all runs, there is an initial heat of injection at 1500 seconds and within about 600 seconds, the heat rate levels out and remains relatively steady throughout the remainder of the run. There appears to be a slow and steady reaction between the lactose and beta-galactosidase. But, as stated previously, there is likely a secondary reaction and/or change of state causing the appearance of a steady exothermic reaction, rather than a short endothermic reaction.

Although the pattern of heat rate appears similar in sweet whey (figure 7) and sweet whey permeate (figure 12), it can be noted that the scales are different and there is a lower heat rate in the sweet whey permeate. The lower heat rate is likely due to the protein being removed during processing of the sweet whey permeate which allows for less interactions to create heat.

Figure 12. Heat rates over time for varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey permeate spiked with 500mM lactose, pH= 6.39



Figure 13. Heat rates of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey permeate spiked with 500mM lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.39



As demonstrated in figure 14, when a consistent beta-galactosidase concentration in sweet whey permeate is injected into increasing concentrations of lactose in sweet whey permeate, the difference in concentrations again, appears tighter than with varying concentrations of enzyme. Upon visual observance, there appears to be a linear pattern of increasingly exothermic reactions with increasing concentrations of lactose. Although this data has a definite pattern, it is noisier than other runs. The noise is likely due to mechanical noise. Mechanical noise happens occasionally and does not invalidate the overall results of the data.

As with sweet whey with varying concentrations of lactose, with sweet whey permeate all p-values were >0.05, showing no statistical difference between the different concentrations of lactose (figure 15). All lines show us the enzyme is saturated and/or there is a secondary reaction or change of state.

Figure 14. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey permeate with varying concentrations of lactose, pH= 6.39





Figure 15. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in sweet whey permeate with varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=6.39

Acid Whey

As demonstrated in figure 16, when beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* in acid whey is injected into the lactose and acid whey solution, there appears to be a linear pattern of increasingly exothermic heat rates with increasing concentrations of beta-galactosidase. Beta-galactosidase was injected at 1500 seconds in all runs done with acid whey. 1500 seconds gave sufficient time for the ITC to equilibrate. At 50 seconds after injection, which is 1550(s) on the x-axis, mean heat rates were collected. This time was chosen so the heat of injection wouldn't be contributing to the data, but the peak of the reaction could be statistically analyzed.

At 50 seconds after injection, the mean heat rate for the control is -0.79 uJ/s, for the 444.4 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 3.02 uJ/s, for the 888.9 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 6.94 uJ/s, and for the 1333.3 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 8.41 uJ/s. However, the p-value is >0.05 in all comparisons, except 0 ug/mL vs. 888.9 ug/mL, which has a p-value of 0.0034 and 0 ug/mL vs

1333.3 ug/mL, which has a p-value of 0.0011, and 444.4 ug/mL vs 1333.3 ug/mL, which has a p-value of 0.0263 (figure 17). There is an initial large heat of injection at 1500 seconds and any reactions appear to be complete around 3400 seconds, which is much faster than with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* in sweet whey products, where there is no clear end of reaction, even after 4700 seconds.

The reaction in the acid whey and acid whey permeates resolving quickly may be due to the nature of the beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* versus beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis*. In the information provided by the manufacturers, beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* has an enzyme activity rate of \geq 2600 U/g and the beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* has an activity rate of \geq 5000 U/g. And from the literature, the percentage of lactose hydrolysis is generally much higher in beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis*, at 75-100%, compared to that of beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae*, which is generally 41-50% (75). This could be why the runs with beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* don't completely resolve during the duration of the runs in the ITC, and have a higher area under the curve in comparison to the runs with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis*.

The most common use for ITC is for measuring binding affinities by measuring changes in heat. In research from Deaville et al., they measured the binding affinities of tannins to proteins. They noted that the heat rate and therefore, binding affinity changed based on the molecular weight of the molecules involved in the interaction (76). Although, the current project is measuring beta-galactosidase activity, not binding affinity, because of the diversity of molecules contained in the matrices of these liquid dairy products, it is possible that some of the

change in heat rate in the various dairy matrices is due to the size of the molecules that make up the compositions interacting with the enzyme or the products of the enzymatic reaction.

It can also be noted that the pH optimum of beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* is 4.75 (40) and with the acid whey having a pH of 4.16 and the acid whey permeate 4.03, there is a chance that with these slightly sub-optimal conditions, the reaction could potentially end more quickly. Additionally, the optimal temperature for the Aspergillus oryzae is 60°C, which is the temperature these reactions were run and prolonged exposure to this temperature may cause the enzyme to unfold, thus limiting the catalytic activity.

In the literature, beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* is shown to have a higher rate of hydrolysis than beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* (77). From the data gathered thus far, it cannot be determined if the results from ITC supports this because all of the runs with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* appear to have heat being produced from a secondary reaction or a change of state.









As shown in figure 18, when a consistent beta-galactosidase concentration in acid whey is injected into various concentrations of lactose and acid whey, upon visual and statistical observation, there is no consistent pattern. However, at 50 seconds after injection, there is a pattern of increasing heat rates with increasing concentrations of lactose. At 50 seconds after injection, the mean heat rate for the control is -0.88 uJ/s, for the 100 mM lactose is 1.26 uJ/s, for the 200 mM lactose is 10.26 uJ/s, and for the 300 mM lactose is 17.35 uJ/s. All p-values were significant, except 0mM vs. 100mM. The p-value for 0 mM vs. 300 mM is 0.0039, 0 mM vs. 500mM is 0.0001, 100 mM vs. 300 mM is 0.0135, 100 mM vs. 500 mM is 0.0003, and 300mM vs. 500 mM is 0.0453 (figure 19). The control line increases in heat rate rather than remaining flat as would be expected. The runs making up this data were done in triplicate as the others were and were even run a fourth time about a month later to verify. Results were similar. It appears that beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* does not stay stable for long. It is

possible that the beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae is more sensitive to a sub-optimal pH, which causes the instability of the enzyme. The pH of the acid whey was 4.16 with the optimal being 4.75. However, this minor difference from the optimal pH is unlikely to make this dramatic of an impact. During preliminary testing, milk runs were done with beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus orvzae and generally maintained enzyme activity (Figure 20), even though the pH of milk is 6.37 and the optimal pH for beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae is 4.75. This demonstrates that the inconsistent data is likely to be due to the matrix of acid whey, rather than the pH. Another possibility is that temperature settings were not optimal for the runs in acid whey. For the acid whey runs, the ITC was set to 60°C to optimize enzyme activity from Aspergillus oryzae, based on the literature. For the preliminary runs of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in milk, the temperature was set to 37°C. However, because all the runs with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* have somewhat predictable results and were run at 60°C, it is unlikely the temperature is causing the inconsistent results in acid whey and acid whey permeate. (Note- The runs for Figure 20 are not shown in triplicate as they were preliminary runs.)

The data for figure 21 with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* in acid whey being injected into acid whey with and without additional lactose was collected after Figures 18 and 20 had been created in an attempt to verify how beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* responds in a solution with a pH that is not optimal. It is demonstrated in figure 21 that no pattern of enzyme activity is demonstrated in runs with either 888.9 ug/mL or 1333.3 ug/mL concentration of beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis*. There are three possible conclusions from this data. Beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* is capable of maintaining enzyme activity without the optimal pH and beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus*

oryzae is not or something about the nature or matrix of acid whey is preventing the enzyme from maintaining stability with beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* or the temperature of 60°C, from the literature, is not appropriate for the experiments only in acid whey and acid whey permeate solutions, with the most likely conclusion being because of the acid whey matrix.

Figure 18. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in acid whey with varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH= 4.16



Figure 19. Heat rates of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in acid whey with varying concentrations of lactose at 50(s) after injection, pH=4.16



Lactose Concentration (mM)

Figure 20: Heat rates over time of 0.667 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in milk spiked with lactose, pH=6.37



Figure 21: Heat rates over time of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Kluyveromyces lactis in acid whey spiked with 500mM lactose, pH=4.16



Acid Whey Permeate

As demonstrated in figure 22, when beta-galactosidase in acid whey permeate is injected into the lactose and acid whey permeate solution, there is a linear pattern with increasing concentrations of beta-galactosidase injected into the lactose and acid whey permeate solution at 50 seconds after injection or 1850 seconds on the x-axis, with only some of the values being significant. Beta-galactosidase was injected at 1500 seconds in all runs done with acid whey. For runs in acid whey permeate, 1800 seconds gave sufficient time for the ITC to equilibrate. At 50 seconds after injection, which is 1850(s) on the x-axis, mean heat rates were collected. 50 seconds after injection was the time was chosen so the heat of injection wouldn't be contributing to the data, but the peak of the reaction could be statistically analyzed.

At 50 seconds after injection, the mean heat rate for the control is -0.60 uJ/s, for the 444.4 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 7.27 uJ/s, for the 888.9 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 22.03 uJ/s, and for the 1333.3 ug/mL of beta-galactosidase is 29.31 uJ/s. 0 ug/mL vs. 889 ug/mL has a p-value of 0.0230. 0 ug/mL vs 1333.3 ug/mL has a p-value of 0.0048 (figure 23). 444.5 ug/mL vs. 1333.3 ug/mL has a p-value of 0.0263. The remaining comparison have p-values greater than 0.05. The heats of injection of beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* are larger in acid whey permeate than any other runs performed. There is a linear pattern of increasing heats of injection with increasing concentrations of enzyme, which is surprising because generally there is a larger peak of injection when there are more interactions in the solution, largely from proteins. Since acid whey permeate has already had the protein removed, the expectation would be that the peaks from injection in both whey permeate solutions would be smaller than in the whey solutions, such as was the case in the runs with sweet whey permeates with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* in comparison with those in sweet whey.

After the heat from the injection and reaction, the heat rate lowers quickly. Because of the series of runs with beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* in sodium acetate buffer (Figure 9) that show that in a simple buffer, the heat of injection resolves after only about 40 seconds. It is evident that at least one quick and small reaction is taking place.

Figure 22. Heat rates over time of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in acid whey permeate spiked with 500mM lactose, pH=4.03



Figure 23. Heat rates of varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in acid whey permeate spiked with 500mM lactose at 50(s) after injection, pH=4.03



As demonstrated in figure 24, when a consistent beta-galactosidase concentration in acid whey permeate is injected into various concentrations of lactose and acid whey permeate, upon visual observation, there is no pattern. However, at 50 seconds after injection, the mean heat rate for the control is 0.60 uJ/s, for the 100 mM lactose is 3.08 uJ/s, for the 200 mM lactose is 8.06 uJ/s, and for the 300 mM lactose is 15.26 uJ/s. All p-values were significant, except 0mM vs. 100mM (figure 25). All p-values are >0.05, except 0mM vs. 300mM has a p-value of 0.003, 100mM vs. 300mM has a p-value of 0.027, and 300mM vs. 500mM has a p-value of 0.03.

Upon first inspection, due to the location of the control, the reactions appear to be endothermic, rather than exothermic, but there is no linear pattern with increasing concentrations of lactose. All concentrations have an initial heat of injection and then appear endothermic. The endothermic nature of these reactions is suspected to be anomalous because of the lack of pattern. Figure 24 appears very similar to Figure 18 with the data appearing random with a lack of conclusiveness as to if the reactions are endothermic or exothermic. As stated previously, this could be due to the pH being sub-optimal, but with the optimal pH being 4.75 and the pH of acid whey permeate being 4.03, the sub-optimal pH is unlikely to make this large of a difference in the data and is more likely due to the acid whey permeate matrix and quick reaction that experiments with beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* exhibit.

Figure 24. Heat rates over time of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in acid whey permeate with varying concentrations of lactose, pH= 4.03.



Figure 25. Heat rates of 1.11 mg/mL beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae in acid whey permeate with varying concentrations of lactose at 600(s) after injection, pH=4.03



Lactose Concentration (mM)

Conclusion

There was consistent exothermic activity demonstrated in milk, sweet whey, and sweet whey permeate with beta-galactosidase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* in runs done in the ITC. This was true when beta-galactosidase concentrations were varied and lactose concentrations remained the same and when lactose concentrations were varied and enzyme concentrations remained the same. The cause of the exothermic nature of the reactions in milk, sweet whey, and sweet whey permeate is unknown, but potentially due to the formation and hydrolysis of galactooligosaccharides or glucose and galactose binding to another protein.

There was a quick exothermic reaction(s) demonstrated when varying concentrations of beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* in acid whey and acid whey permeate were injected into a consistent concentration of lactose in acid whey and acid whey permeate. There was a pattern of increasing heat with increasing concentrations of enzyme, with some of these differences being statistically significant.

There was also a shorter exothermic reaction(s) demonstrated when a consistent concentration of beta-galactosidase from *Aspergillus oryzae* was injected into varying concentrations of lactose. There was a pattern of increasing heat with increasing concentrations of lactose, with some of these differences being statistically significant.

Using ITC as a method for measuring beta-galactosidase activity and other enzyme activity in dairy fluids or other dairy products merits more research and exploration. These results are promising, and further research would be valuable for understanding enzyme activity directly in the food matrix of dairy products.

REFERENCES

1. Author U. Handbook of Milk Composition. San Diego: Academic Press; 1995.

2. Jenness R. The Composition of milk. In "Lactation". Smith BLLaVR, editor. New York: Academic Press; 1974.

3. Robert G. Jensen AMF, Carol J. Lammi-Keefe. The Composition of Milk Fat. Journal of Dairy Science. 1991;71(9):3228-43.

4. G.D. Miller JKJ, L.D. McBean. Handbook of Dairy Foods and Nutrition. Edition T, editor. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2006.

5. Milk Pasteurization Process: How and Why Milk is Pasteurized US Dairy Website2015 [cited 2021. Available from: https://www.usdairy.com/news-articles/why-is-milk-pasteurized-4-questions-answered.

6. Crichton G. Everything you Need to Know about Shelf-Stable (Aseptic Milk) Dairy Discovery Zone 2020 [Available from: https://www.dairydiscoveryzone.com/blog/everything-you-need-know-about-shelf-stable-aseptic-milk.

7. Marwaha SS, Kennedy JF. WHEY - POLLUTION PROBLEM AND POTENTIAL UTILIZATION. Int J Food Sci Technol. 1988;23(4):323-36.

8. Smithers GW. Whey and whey proteins - From 'gutter-to-gold'. Int Dairy J. 2008;18(7):695-704.

9. Danovich T. One Pound of Cheese Makes Nine Pounds of Whey. Where does it all go? The Counter2018 [Available from: https://thecounter.org/whey-disposal-reuse-cheese-dairybyproduct/#:~:text=Whey%2C%20the%20slop%20left%20over,generates%20nine%20pounds% 20of%20whey.

10. Cheese Industry Profile Agricultural Marketing Resource Center2018 [Available from: https://www.agmrc.org/commodities-products/livestock/dairy/cheese-industry-profile.

11. Panghal A, Kumar, V., Dhull, S.B., Gat, Y., Chhikara, N. Utilization of dairy industry waste-whey in formulation of papaya RTS beverage. Current Research in Nutrition and Food Science Journal. 2017a;5:168-74.

12. Charles D. Why Greek Yogurt Makers Want Whey to Go Away: NPR; 2012 [Available from: https://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2012/11/21/165478127/why-greek-yogurt-makers-want-whey-to-go-away#:~:text=Live%20Sessions-

,Why%20Greek%20Yogurt%20Makers%20Want%20Whey%20To%20Go%20Away%20%3A%20The,3%20pounds%20of%20liquid%20whey.

13. FAO. Food Outlook 2006

[http://www.fao.org.erl.lib.byu.edu/docrep/009/j8126e/je11.htm].

14. Ryan MP, Walsh G. The biotechnological potential of whey. Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio-Technology. 2016;15(3):479-98.

15. Smithers GW. Whey-ing up the options - Yesterday, today and tomorrow. Int Dairy J. 2015;48:2-14.

16. Trelogan HC. Folklore, Statistics and Economics of Whey. In Proceedings of the First Whey Utilization Conference.1970. p. 71-5.

17. Mycek S. Alpine Therapy: The Whey Bath Insider's Guide to Spas2015 [Available from: https://www.insidersguidetospas.com/features/alpine-therapy-the-whey-bath/.

18. Why U.S. Permeate https://www.thinkusadairy.org/products/permeate-(dairy-product-solids)/why-us-permeate: Think USA Dairy; 2018 [

19. Yang ST, Silva EM. Novel products and new technologies for use of a familiar carbohydrate, milk lactose. Journal of Dairy Science. 1995;78(11):2541-62.

20. Risner D, Marco ML, Pace SA, Spang ES. The Potential Production of the Bioactive Compound Pinene Using Whey Permeate. Processes. 2020;8(3).

21. Patel SR, Murthy ZVP. Lactose Recovery Processes from Whey: A Comparative Study Based on Sonocrystallization. Separation and Purification Reviews. 2012;41(4):251-66.

22. Paterson AHJ. Advanced Dairy Chemistry. Patrick F. Fox ed: Springer; 1990s.

23. Panesar PS, Kennedy JF. Biotechnological approaches for the value addition of whey. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology. 2012;32(4):327-48.

24. Ball DW. The Basics of General, Organic, and Biological Chemistry. Minneapolis, MN: Saylor Foundation; 2011.

25. Merheb-Dini C, Gomes E, Boscolo M, da Silva R. Production and characterization of a milk-clotting protease in the crude enzymatic extract from the newly isolated Thermomucor indicae-seudaticae N31 (Milk-clotting protease from the newly isolated Thermomucor indicae-seudaticae N31). Food Chemistry. 2010;120(1):87-93.

26. Fox PF. Handbook of Food Enzymology. Florida: CRC Press; 2002.

27. U. Khan ZS. Use of Enzymes in Dairy Industry: A Review of Current Progress. Razi Institute. 2020:131-6.

28. Campbell RE, Drake MA. Invited review: The effect of native and nonnative enzymes on the flavor of dried dairy ingredients. Journal of Dairy Science. 2013;96(8):4773-83.

29. Sanli T, Sezgin E, Deveci O, Senel E, Benli M. Effect of using transglutaminase on physical, chemical and sensory properties of set-type yoghurt. Food Hydrocolloids. 2011;25(6):1477-81.

30. J.P. Tamang GHF. Yeast Biotechnology: Diversity and Applications. New York: Springer; 2009.

31. Rouwenhorst RJ, Pronk JT, Vandijken JP. THE DISCOVERY OF BETA-

GALACTOSIDASE. Trends in Biochemical Sciences. 1989;14(10):416-8.

32. Fischer E. Ber. Chem. Gesellsch. 1894. p. 3479-83.

33. Jacobson RH, Zhang XJ, DuBose RF, Matthews BW. Three-dimensional structure of beta-galactosidase from E. coli. Nature. 1994;369(6483):761-6.

34. Kalnins A, Otto K, Ruther U, Mullerhill B. SEQUENCE OF THE LACZ GENE OF ESCHERICHIA-COLI. Embo Journal. 1983;2(4):593-7.

35. Fowler AV, Zabin I. AMINO-ACID SEQUENCE OF BETA-GALACTOSIDASE OF ESCHERICHIA-COLI. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1977;74(4):1507-10.

36. Richmond ML, Gray JI, Stine CM. BETA-GALACTOSIDASE - REVIEW OF RECENT RESEARCH RELATED TO TECHNOLOGICAL APPLICATION, NUTRITIONAL

CONCERNS, AND IMMOBILIZATION. Journal of Dairy Science. 1981;64(9):1759-71.

37. Author links open overlay panel Dekker PJT, Daamen CBG. ENZYMES

EXOGENOUS TO MILK IN DAIRY TECHNOLOGY- beta-galactosidase. second ed2011.

38. Saqib S, Akram A, Halim SA, Tassaduq R. Sources of beta-galactosidase and its applications in food industry. 3 Biotech. 2017;7.

39. Husain Q. beta Galactosidases and their potential applications: a review. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology. 2010;30(1):41-62.

40. Gargova S, Pishtijski I, Stoilova I. Purification and properties of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae. Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment. 1995;9(4):47-51.

41. Yingling G. Senior Counsel. FDA GRAS: FDA; 2018.

42. Lu H, Cheng-xing L, You-jia L, Hua-ying H, Zhou-jin T. Research progress on microorganism lactase. Food and Fermentation Industries. 2017(No. 6):268-73.

43. Jeong JK, Kwon O, Lee YM, Oh DB, Lee JM, Kim S, et al. Characterization of the Streptococcus pneumoniae BgaC Protein as a Novel Surface beta-Galactosidase with Specific Hydrolysis Activity for the Gal beta 1-3GlcNAc Moiety of Oligosaccharides. Journal of Bacteriology. 2009;191(9):3011-23.

44. Caputo J. Lactose Tolerance and Human Evolution. Smithsonian Magazine. 2009.

45. Mascolo R, Saltzman JR. Lactose intolerance and irritable bowel syndrome. Nutrition Reviews. 1998;56(10):306-8.

46. Lamsal BP. Production, health aspects and potential food uses of dairy prebiotic galactooligosaccharides. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture. 2012;92(10):2020-8.

47. Vulevic J, Juric A, Tzortzis G, Gibson GR. A Mixture of trans-Galactooligosaccharides Reduces Markers of Metabolic Syndrome and Modulates the Fecal Microbiota and Immune Function of Overweight Adults. J Nutr. 2013;143(3):324-31.

48. Fischer C, Kleinschmidt T. Synthesis of Galactooligosaccharides in Milk and Whey: A Review. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety. 2018;17(3):678-97.

49. Otieno DO. Synthesis of beta-galactooligosaccharides from lactose using microbial beta-galactosidases. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety. 2010;9(5):471-82.
50. Akolkar SK, Sajgure A, Lele SS. Lactase production from Lactobacillus acidophilus.

World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology. 2005;21(6--7):1119-22.

51. Wood L. Global Galacto-oligosaccharides (GOS) Market to Reach \$1.58 Billion by 2025 - ResearchAndMarkets.com Business Wire2019 [Available from:

https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20190620005476/en/Global-Galactooligosaccharides-GOS-Market-Reach-1.58-Billion.

52. S.r.l. C. Lactose, USA- Average monthly prices of lactose. 2017 [Available from: https://www.clal.it/en/index.php?section=lattosio.

53. Byfield J, Cardenas, S., Almeciga-Diaz, C. J., & Sanchez, O. F. β-Galactosidase and galactooligosaccharides production and applications. Recent Patents on Chemical Engineering2010. p. 17-29.

54. Nath A, Mondal S, Chakraborty S, Bhattacharjee C, Chowdhury R. Production, purification, characterization, immobilization, and application of -galactosidase: a review. Asia-Pacific Journal of Chemical Engineering. 2014;9(3):330-48.

55. Oliveira C, Guimaraes PMR, Domingues L. Recombinant microbial systems for improved beta-galactosidase production and biotechnological applications. Biotechnology Advances. 2011;29(6):600-9.

56. Suzuki H. HowEnzymes Work: From Structure to Function: Jenny Stanford Publishing; 2020.

57. Scopes RK. Enzyme Activity and Assays: Macmillan Publishers Ltd.; 2002.

58. Kotz CM, Furne JK, Savaiano DA, Levitt MD. FACTORS AFFECTING THE ABILITY OF A HIGH BETA-GALACTOSIDASE YOGURT TO ENHANCE LACTOSE

ABSORPTION. Journal of Dairy Science. 1994;77(12):3538-44.

- 59. Simren M, Stotzer PO. Use and abuse of hydrogen breath tests. Gut. 2006;55(3):297-303.
- 60. Enzyme Assays. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- 61. Enzyme Assays Smart Note QA. In: Inc. TFS, editor. website2021.
- 62. Ahern K, & Rajagopal, I. Enzyme Parameters. 2021.

63. : ThermoFisher Scientific; [Available from:

https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/K145501#/K145501.

64. Ghai R, Falconer RJ, Collins BM. Applications of isothermal titration calorimetry in pure and applied researchusurvey of the literature from 2010. J Mol Recognit. 2012;25(1):32-52.

65. Arijaje EO, Jayanthi S, Kumar TKS, Wang YJ. Linear starch and hexanoic acid complexation evaluated by isothermal titration calorimetry. Starch-Starke. 2015;67(9-10):729-36.

66. Chanamai R, McClements DJ. Isothermal titration calorimetry measurement of enthalpy changes in monodisperse oil-in-water emulsions undergoing depletion flocculation. Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects. 2001;181(1-3):261-9.

67. Becher P. Basic theory/measurement/applications. United States1987.

68. Frazier RA, Papadopoulou A, Mueller-Harvey I, Kissoon D, Green RJ. Probing proteintannin interactions by isothermal titration microcalorimetry. J Agric Food Chem. 2003;51(18):5189-95.

69. Arroyo-Maya IJ, McClements DJ. Application of ITC in foods: A powerful tool for understanding the gastrointestinal fate of lipophilic compounds. Biochim Biophys Acta-Gen Subj. 2016;1860(5):1026-35.

70. Chan WKD, Mason M, Hansen LD, Kenealey JD. Measuring Enzymatic Stability by Isothermal Titration Calorimetry. J Vis Exp. 2019(145):9.

71. Warmerdam A. Synthesis of galacto-oligosaccharides with β -galactosidases: Wageningen University; 2013.

72. Huh KT, Toba T, Adachi S. OLIGOSACCHARIDE STRUCTURES FORMED DURING ACID-HYDROLYSIS OF LACTOSE. Food Chemistry. 1991;39(1):39-49.

73. Maksimainen M, Paavilainen S, Hakulinen N, Rouvinen J. Structural analysis, enzymatic characterization, and catalytic mechanisms of beta-galactosidase from Bacillus circulans sp alkalophilus. Febs Journal. 2012;279(10):1788-98.

74. Torres DPM, Goncalves MP, Teixeira JA, Rodrigues LR. Galacto-Oligosaccharides: Production, Properties, Applications, and Significance as Prebiotics. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety. 2010;9(5):438-54.

75. Kristine Zolnere IC. THE COMPARISON OF COMMERCIALLY AVAILABLE

β-GALACTOSIDASES FOR DAIRY INDUSTRY: REVIEW. Research for Rural Development. 2017;1.

76. Deaville ER, Green RJ, Mueller-Harvey I, Willoughby I, Frazier RA. Hydrolyzable tannin structures influence relative globular and random coil protein binding strengths. J Agric Food Chem. 2007;55(11):4554-61.

77. Bosso A, Morioka LRI, dos Santos LF, Suguimoto HH. Lactose hydrolysis potential and thermal stability of commercial beta-galactosidase in UHT and skimmed milk. Food Science and Technology. 2016;36(1):159-65.

APPENDIX A

The original primary hypothesis for this project was that the chosen Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB) secrete beta-galactosidase extracellularly and will increasingly secrete beta-galactosidase extracellularly with supplementation of MRS broth with 1%, 2%, and 3% of the carbohydrate lactose. The chosen LAB strains were representative strains of *Lactobacillus plantarum*, *Lactobacillus casei*, *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, *Lactobacillus fermentum*, *Lactobacillus bulgaricus*, *Streptococcus lactis*, *Lactobacillus helveticus*, and *Streptococcus thermophilus*.

This hypothesis was shown to be invalid for the following strains: *Lactobacillus acidophilus, Streptococcus thermophilus, and Lactobacillus helveticus.* LAB do not secrete beta-galactosidase extracellularly. With supplementation of lactose in the broth, the LAB do not secrete beta-galactosidase extracellularly either. It is assumed that this is representative of the remaining strains of LAB. It was also discovered during this process that the nano-ITC was not sensitive enough to measure the beta-galactosidase activity, even when the cells were lysed. Therefore, the research moved from testing the original hypothesis to testing the capabilities of the ITC, specifically for the dairy industry. The below background information was excluded from the primary thesis since the goals of the project changed.

Background-Lactic Acid Bacteria

Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB) are a group of bacteria categorized because of their similar characteristics. They are agents of fermentation involved in the production of many foods, including yogurt, cheese, cultured butter, sour cream, sausage, cucumber pickles, olives, and sauerkraut. They contribute to the taste and texture of these fermented foods and inhibit food spoilage bacteria (78). LAB are Gram-positive, non-sporeforming cocci, coccobacilli, or rods. All LAB grow anaerobically, but they can grow in the presence of oxygen and therefore are considered aerotolerant anaerobes (78). Sugars are the carbon and energy source for LAB (79). They are generally considered to be beneficial microorganisms and some strains are even healthpromoting (probiotic). However, some genera contain species or strains that are known to be pathogenic, such as Streptococcus, Lactococcus, Enterococcus, and Carnobacterium (80).

The history of LAB is rich and interesting with advancements to our understanding of the benefits and functionality of LAB coming from all around the world. As early as 8,000 to 5,000 BC, the people of North Africa began to consume naturally acidified fermented milk, cheese, and other dairy products (81). In Ancient India between 6,000-4,000 BC, yogurt (dahi), cheese, and sour cream were processed (82). In 1,000 BC, Chinese people began to make kimchi, which is salted and fermented vegetables (83). In 1780, Carl Scheele, a Swedish medical chemist, first isolated and identified lactic acid from soured milk and described the chemical properties (84). LAB were viewed under a microscope for the first time by a French scientist, Pasteur, in 1857, while studying rancidity in wine drinks. He linked lactic acid production to microorganisms (85). In 1880, a commercial lactic acid bacteria starter was produced (82). From this time forward, many species have been isolated, manufactured, sold, studied, and characterized. LAB have had a tremendous impact on food, culture, and health throughout the world.

Many LAB contain the enzyme beta-galactosidase, which hydrolyzes lactose into glucose and galactose. In all LAB, following hydrolysis, fermentation takes place. LAB can either be homofermentative, meaning they ferment glucose (or other carbohydrates, depending on the strain) with lactic acid as the primary byproduct or they can be heterofermentative, meaning they ferment glucose (or other carbohydrates, depending on the strain) with lactic acid, ethanol/acetic

acid, and carbon dioxide as byproducts. *Lactobacillus acidophilus, Streptococcus thermophilus, Streptococcus lactis, Lactobacillus bulgaricus,* and *Lactobacillus helveticus* are homofermentative. *Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus casei,* and *Lactobacillus fermentum* are heterofermentative (86). *Lactobacillus bulgaricus, Lactobacillus lactis,* and *Lactobacillus acidophilus* strains metabolize only the glucose and release the galactose outside of the cell (87). *Streptococcus lactis, Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus casei, Lactobacillus fermentum,* and *Lactobacillus helveticus* metabolize both glucose and galactose (87-91).

LAB that are homofermentative, ferment via Glycolysis or the Embden-Mayerhof pathway, which is generalized in *Figure 26*. LAB that are heterofermentative ferment via the phosphoketolase pathway (pentose phosphate pathway), which is generalized in *Figure 27*. In some LAB strains, sugars other than glucose, such as galactose, can enter the pathways at the level of glucose-6-phosphate or fructose-6-phosphate after isomerization and/or phosphorylation (78).



Figure 27: Heterofermentation



For this research, eight representative strains of LAB that have more than one study demonstrating any beta-galactosidase activity within the cell were chosen in order to have a foundation on which to build in finding extracellular beta-galactosidase activity since there is little published research about extracellular beta-galactosidase activity in LAB. If betagalactosidase is already known to be produced intracellularly by the specific LAB strain, then the odds are more likely that the beta-galactosidase will be secreted. The best growth conditions for these strains were provided by the manufacturer. Although conditions for optimal cell cultivation and conditions for optimal enzyme activity do not match exactly, there is a strong correlation (92). This is why the methods for this research includes alterations in temperature and pH if any enzyme activity is demonstrated.

If any activity is demonstrated with either buffer, the temperature will be increased in 5°C increments up to 50°C to measure the temperature where optimal enzyme activity occurs.

The pH with either buffer will also be adjusted between 4.6-6.5 pH to achieve optimization. Ideas for these temperatures and pH values were obtained from a study that Wierzbicki and Kosikowski (93) did that found optimal pH and temperature values for beta-galactosidase produced from numerous LAB.

It should be noted that the literature involving the release of extracellular betagalactosidase from LAB does not always agree. Thongaram, Hoeflinger, Chow, and Miller noted that *Lactobacillus acidophilus NCFM* is released extracellularly(94). However, Montanari et.al found that *Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Lactobacillus brevis* did not release betagalactosidase extracellularly, but the cell autolysed and the cell wall was broken, which was demonstrated with scanning electron microscope images(95). Carevic et. al found no extracellular beta-galactosidase activity in *Lb. acidophilus ATCC 4356, Lb. rhamnosus ATCC* 7469, *Lb. reuteri ATCC 23271, Lb. helveticus ATCC 15009,* and *Lb. delbreuckii* subspecies *bulgaricus ATCC 11842* (96).

Steps Taken to Reject Original Hypothesis

Initially, the exponential growth phase of *S. Thermophilus* and *L.Helveticus* were discovered through literature review and measuring the optical density after growing in an anaerobic environment at 40°C (97). The goal was to measure enzyme activity during the exponential phase. However, enzyme activity was measured during many different phases of growth to ensure there was no enzyme activity measured during any of the phases of cell growth, with the ITC. After centrifugation, no beta-galactosidase activity was measured in the supernatant on the ITC during any of the runs.

After no beta-galactosidase activity was seen on the ITC, it was decided to lyse the cells. It is known that these strains of LAB contain beta-galactosidase intracellularly. It was desired to see if the ITC could measure enzymatic activity from beta-galactosidase, to ensure that if there was any beta-galactosidase secreted, the ITC was sensitive enough to measure the heat from the reaction.

In order to lyse the cells, sonication was attempted at first with various lengths of pulses and intensities. The broth containing the bacteria was centrifuged and the supernatant was placed in the ITC. No enzyme activity was found in *S. Thermophilus* or *L.Helveticus*. As sonication is known to lyse cells, and beta-galactosidase is known to be intracellular in LAB, it was decided to explore a colorimetric assay to compare the sensitivities of a colorimetric assay to a calorimetric assay for measuring beta-galactosidase activity. No beta-galactosidase activity was found in the sonicated and centrifuged supernatant of *L.Helveticus* using the colorimetric assay either.

Since enzymes are proteins and there would be more proteins than just beta-galactosidase in the supernatant, it was determined to test for any protein in the supernatant using a Bicinchoninic Acid Assay (BCA). Protein was found in all of the centrifuged supernatants. The supernatants of *L. Helveticus* grown with additional lactose in the broth, *S. Thermophilus*, and *L.Helveticus* were all tested. Their absorbances were all found to be 4.0, demonstrating that there was more protein than the assay could measure, which is demonstrated in the figure below.

Figure 28: BCA results of supernatant after sonication and centrifugation



The article with the most helpful data and methods that was used for reference, found beta-galactosidase secreted from *Lactobacillus Acidophilus* (94). It was decided to pursue this strain of LAB. After consulting with the company that provided the *Lactobacillus Acidophilus*, it was decided to change the growing conditions of the bacteria and use an incubator with 5% CO2, rather than an anaerobic chamber. In addition, 3% lactose was added to the broth used to grow each of the strains, which at the time were *L. Acidophilus*, *S. Thermophilus*, and *L.Helveticus*.

In an attempt to ensure the cells were lysed, after the strains were grown under the above conditions and centrifuged, the supernatant was removed, 5mL of sodium phosphate buffer was added to the pellet, then vortexed and taken through various combinations of freeze/thaw cycles, sonication, chemical lysing, and vortexing with sand to compare efficacy of the lysing methods with a colorimetric assay. Vortexing sand with the pellet and buffer proved to be the most effective for lysing the cell to release the beta-galactosidase. Following vortexing with sand, the

supernatant was tested. A beta-galactosidase colorimetric assay was performed and betagalactosidase was detected. A run on the ITC was done and no enzyme activity was detected. Through this research, two conclusions were made. First, *L.Acidophilus, L.Helveticus,* and *S. Thermophilus* do not secrete beta-galactosidase. This is likely representative of all LAB. Second, the nano-ITC is not sensitive enough to detect beta-galactosidase inherent in LAB, which is demonstrated in the figure below. There is only a peak where there is heat created through the injection, but no endothermic or exothermic activity is otherwise present.

Figure 29:





It was decided to explore measuring lysozyme activity in the ITC since there is plenty of literature available on this enzyme and there was already a bottle of the enzyme in the lab. A colorimetric lysozyme assay was performed. The colorimetric assay was successful and enzyme activity was demonstrated. By error, 1000x the amount of lysozyme was placed in the ITC for an experiment to measure enzyme activity. This accident finally demonstrated enzyme activity in the ITC. It was determined that the capabilities of the ITC with beta-galactosidase, the original enzyme of interest, should be explored in various liquids pertinent to the dairy industry which do not allow for direct measurement with a colorimetric assay.

REFERENCES FOR APPENDIX A

78. Todar K. Todar's Online Textbook of Bacteriology. 2020.

79. Kowalczyk M, Mayo B, María Fernández M, Aleksandrzak-Piekarczyk T. Biotechnology of Lactic Acid Bacteria. Second ed: John Wiley and Sons; 2016.

Lactic Acid Bacteria : Microbiological and Functional Aspects: Taylor & Francis Group;
 2019.

81. Dunne J, Evershed RP, Salque M, Cramp L, Bruni S, Ryan K, et al. First dairying in green Saharan Africa in the fifth millennium BC. Nature. 2012;486(7403):390-4.

82. F. T. Introduction. In: Chen W. (eds) Lactic Acid Bacteria. Springer, Singapore2019.

83. Gong C. Chinese Kimchi Processing Technology. Beijing: China Light Industry Press; 2011.

Scheele C. Om Mjölkochdesssyra, about milk and its acid. Kongliga Vetenskaps
Academiens Nya Handlingar New Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Science; 1780. p. 116-24.

85. Pasteur L. Mémoiresur la fermentation appeléelactique. C R Chim; 1857. p. 913-6.

86. University C. Lactic Acid Bacteria- Homofermentative and Heterofermentative. 2008.

87. Hickey MW, Hillier AJ, Jago GR. Transport and Metabolism of Lactose, Glucose, and Galactose in Homofermentative Lactobacilli. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 1986;51(4):825-31.

88. Thompson J, Turner KW, Thomas TD. Catabolite Inhibition and Sequential Metabolism of Sugars by Streptococcus lactis. Journal of Bacteriology. 1978;133(3):1163-74.

89. Plumed-Ferrer C, Koistinen KM, Tolonen TL, Lehesranta SJ, Karenlampi SO, Makimattila E, et al. Comparative study of sugar fermentation and protein expression patterns of two Lactobacillus plantarum strains grown in three different media. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2008;74(17):5349-58.

90. Cai H, Rodriguez BT, Zhang W, Broadbent JR, Steele JL. Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of Lactobacillus casei strains isolated from different ecological niches suggests frequent recombination and niche specificity. Microbiology-Sgm. 2007;153:2655-65.

91. Lactobacillus Fermentum. UC Davis Viticulture and Enology.

92. da Silva CR, Delatorre AB, Martins MLL. Effect of the culture conditions on the production of an extracellular protease by thermophilic Bacillus sp and some properties of the enzymatic activity. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology. 2007;38(2):253-8.

93. Wierzbicki LE, Kosikowski FV. Lactase potential of various microorganisms grown in whey. Journal of Dairy Science. 1973;56(1):26-32.

94. Thongaram T, Hoeflinger JL, Chow J, Miller MJ. Prebiotic Galactooligosaccharide Metabolism by Probiotic Lactobacilli and Bifidobacteria. J Agric Food Chem. 2017;65(20):4184-92.

95. Montanari G, Zambonelli C, Grazia L, Benevelli M, Chiavari C. Release of betagalactosidase from lactobacilli. Food Technology and Biotechnology. 2000;38(2):129-33.

96. Carevic M, Vukasinovic-Sekulic M, Grbavcic S, Stojanovic M, Mihailovic M, Dimitrijevic A, et al. Optimization of beta-galactosidase production from lactic acid bacteria. Hemijska Industrija. 2015;69(3):305-12.

97. Jimeno J, Casey M, Hofer F. THE OCCURRENCE OF BETA-GALACTOSIDASE AND BETA-PHOSPHOGALACTOSIDASE IN LACTOBACILLUS-CASEI STRAINS. Fems Microbiology Letters. 1984;25(2-3):275-8.

COMPLETE LIST OF REFERENCES

1. Author U. Handbook of Milk Composition. San Diego: Academic Press; 1995.

2. Jenness R. The Composition of milk. In "Lactation". Smith BLLaVR, editor. New York: Academic Press; 1974.

3. Robert G. Jensen AMF, Carol J. Lammi-Keefe. The Composition of Milk Fat. Journal of Dairy Science. 1991;71(9):3228-43.

4. G.D. Miller JKJ, L.D. McBean. Handbook of Dairy Foods and Nutrition. Edition T, editor. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2006.

5. Milk Pasteurization Process: How and Why Milk is Pasteurized US Dairy Website2015 [cited 2021. Available from: https://www.usdairy.com/news-articles/why-is-milk-pasteurized-4-questions-answered.

6. Crichton G. Everything you Need to Know about Shelf-Stable (Aseptic Milk) Dairy Discovery Zone 2020 [Available from: https://www.dairydiscoveryzone.com/blog/everything-you-need-know-about-shelf-stable-aseptic-milk.

7. Marwaha SS, Kennedy JF. WHEY - POLLUTION PROBLEM AND POTENTIAL UTILIZATION. Int J Food Sci Technol. 1988;23(4):323-36.

8. Smithers GW. Whey and whey proteins - From 'gutter-to-gold'. Int Dairy J. 2008;18(7):695-704.

9. Danovich T. One Pound of Cheese Makes Nine Pounds of Whey. Where does it all go? The Counter2018 [Available from: https://thecounter.org/whey-disposal-reuse-cheese-dairy-byproduct/#:~:text=Whey%2C%20the%20slop%20left%20over,generates%20nine%20pounds% 20of%20whey.

10. Cheese Industry Profile Agricultural Marketing Resource Center2018 [Available from: https://www.agmrc.org/commodities-products/livestock/dairy/cheese-industry-profile.

11. Panghal A, Kumar, V., Dhull, S.B., Gat, Y., Chhikara, N. Utilization of dairy industry waste-whey in formulation of papaya RTS beverage. Current Research in Nutrition and Food Science Journal. 2017a;5:168-74.

12. Charles D. Why Greek Yogurt Makers Want Whey to Go Away: NPR; 2012 [Available from: https://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2012/11/21/165478127/why-greek-yogurt-makers-want-whey-to-go-away#:~:text=Live%20Sessions-

,Why%20Greek%20Yogurt%20Makers%20Want%20Whey%20To%20Go%20Away%20%3A%20The,3%20pounds%20of%20liquid%20whey.

13. FAO. Food Outlook 2006

[http://www.fao.org.erl.lib.byu.edu/docrep/009/j8126e/je11.htm].

14. Ryan MP, Walsh G. The biotechnological potential of whey. Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio-Technology. 2016;15(3):479-98.

15. Smithers GW. Whey-ing up the options - Yesterday, today and tomorrow. Int Dairy J. 2015;48:2-14.

16. Trelogan HC. Folklore, Statistics and Economics of Whey. In Proceedings of the First Whey Utilization Conference.1970. p. 71-5.

17. Mycek S. Alpine Therapy: The Whey Bath Insider's Guide to Spas2015 [Available from: https://www.insidersguidetospas.com/features/alpine-therapy-the-whey-bath/.

18. Why U.S. Permeate https://www.thinkusadairy.org/products/permeate-(dairy-product-solids)/why-us-permeate: Think USA Dairy; 2018 [

19. Yang ST, Silva EM. Novel products and new technologies for use of a familiar carbohydrate, milk lactose. Journal of Dairy Science. 1995;78(11):2541-62.

20. Risner D, Marco ML, Pace SA, Spang ES. The Potential Production of the Bioactive Compound Pinene Using Whey Permeate. Processes. 2020;8(3).

21. Patel SR, Murthy ZVP. Lactose Recovery Processes from Whey: A Comparative Study Based on Sonocrystallization. Separation and Purification Reviews. 2012;41(4):251-66.

22. Paterson AHJ. Advanced Dairy Chemistry. Patrick F. Fox ed: Springer; 1990s.

23. Panesar PS, Kennedy JF. Biotechnological approaches for the value addition of whey. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology. 2012;32(4):327-48.

24. Ball DW. The Basics of General, Organic, and Biological Chemistry. Minneapolis, MN: Saylor Foundation; 2011.

25. Merheb-Dini C, Gomes E, Boscolo M, da Silva R. Production and characterization of a milk-clotting protease in the crude enzymatic extract from the newly isolated Thermomucor indicae-seudaticae N31 (Milk-clotting protease from the newly isolated Thermomucor indicae-seudaticae N31). Food Chemistry. 2010;120(1):87-93.

26. Fox PF. Handbook of Food Enzymology. Florida: CRC Press; 2002.

27. U. Khan ZS. Use of Enzymes in Dairy Industry: A Review of Current Progress. Razi Institute. 2020:131-6.

28. Campbell RE, Drake MA. Invited review: The effect of native and nonnative enzymes on the flavor of dried dairy ingredients. Journal of Dairy Science. 2013;96(8):4773-83.

29. Sanli T, Sezgin E, Deveci O, Senel E, Benli M. Effect of using transglutaminase on physical, chemical and sensory properties of set-type yoghurt. Food Hydrocolloids. 2011;25(6):1477-81.

30. J.P. Tamang GHF. Yeast Biotechnology: Diversity and Applications. New York: Springer; 2009.

31. Rouwenhorst RJ, Pronk JT, Vandijken JP. THE DISCOVERY OF BETA-

GALACTOSIDASE. Trends in Biochemical Sciences. 1989;14(10):416-8.

32. Fischer E. Ber. Chem. Gesellsch. 1894. p. 3479-83.

33. Jacobson RH, Zhang XJ, DuBose RF, Matthews BW. Three-dimensional structure of beta-galactosidase from E. coli. Nature. 1994;369(6483):761-6.

34. Kalnins A, Otto K, Ruther U, Mullerhill B. SEQUENCE OF THE LACZ GENE OF ESCHERICHIA-COLI. Embo Journal. 1983;2(4):593-7.

35. Fowler AV, Zabin I. AMINO-ACID SEQUENCE OF BETA-GALACTOSIDASE OF ESCHERICHIA-COLI. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1977;74(4):1507-10.

36. Richmond ML, Gray JI, Stine CM. BETA-GALACTOSIDASE - REVIEW OF RECENT RESEARCH RELATED TO TECHNOLOGICAL APPLICATION, NUTRITIONAL

CONCERNS, AND IMMOBILIZATION. Journal of Dairy Science. 1981;64(9):1759-71.

37. Author links open overlay panel Dekker PJT, Daamen CBG. ENZYMES

EXOGENOUS TO MILK IN DAIRY TECHNOLOGY- beta-galactosidase. second ed2011.

38. Saqib S, Akram A, Halim SA, Tassaduq R. Sources of beta-galactosidase and its applications in food industry. 3 Biotech. 2017;7.

39. Husain Q. beta Galactosidases and their potential applications: a review. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology. 2010;30(1):41-62.

40. Gargova S, Pishtijski I, Stoilova I. Purification and properties of beta-galactosidase from Aspergillus oryzae. Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment. 1995;9(4):47-51.

41. Yingling G. Senior Counsel. FDA GRAS: FDA; 2018.

42. Lu H, Cheng-xing L, You-jia L, Hua-ying H, Zhou-jin T. Research progress on microorganism lactase. Food and Fermentation Industries. 2017(No. 6):268-73.

43. Jeong JK, Kwon O, Lee YM, Oh DB, Lee JM, Kim S, et al. Characterization of the Streptococcus pneumoniae BgaC Protein as a Novel Surface beta-Galactosidase with Specific Hydrolysis Activity for the Gal beta 1-3GlcNAc Moiety of Oligosaccharides. Journal of Bacteriology. 2009;191(9):3011-23.

44. Caputo J. Lactose Tolerance and Human Evolution. Smithsonian Magazine. 2009.

45. Mascolo R, Saltzman JR. Lactose intolerance and irritable bowel syndrome. Nutrition Reviews. 1998;56(10):306-8.

46. Lamsal BP. Production, health aspects and potential food uses of dairy prebiotic galactooligosaccharides. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture. 2012;92(10):2020-8.

47. Vulevic J, Juric A, Tzortzis G, Gibson GR. A Mixture of trans-Galactooligosaccharides Reduces Markers of Metabolic Syndrome and Modulates the Fecal Microbiota and Immune Function of Overweight Adults. J Nutr. 2013;143(3):324-31.

48. Fischer C, Kleinschmidt T. Synthesis of Galactooligosaccharides in Milk and Whey: A Review. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety. 2018;17(3):678-97.

49. Otieno DO. Synthesis of beta-galactooligosaccharides from lactose using microbial beta-galactosidases. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety. 2010;9(5):471-82.
50. Akolkar SK, Sajgure A, Lele SS. Lactase production from Lactobacillus acidophilus.

World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology. 2005;21(6--7):1119-22.

51. Wood L. Global Galacto-oligosaccharides (GOS) Market to Reach \$1.58 Billion by 2025 - ResearchAndMarkets.com Business Wire2019 [Available from:

https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20190620005476/en/Global-Galactooligosaccharides-GOS-Market-Reach-1.58-Billion.

52. S.r.l. C. Lactose, USA- Average monthly prices of lactose. 2017 [Available from: https://www.clal.it/en/index.php?section=lattosio.

53. Byfield J, Cardenas, S., Almeciga-Diaz, C. J., & Sanchez, O. F. β-Galactosidase and galactooligosaccharides production and applications. Recent Patents on Chemical Engineering2010. p. 17-29.

54. Nath A, Mondal S, Chakraborty S, Bhattacharjee C, Chowdhury R. Production, purification, characterization, immobilization, and application of -galactosidase: a review. Asia-Pacific Journal of Chemical Engineering. 2014;9(3):330-48.

55. Oliveira C, Guimaraes PMR, Domingues L. Recombinant microbial systems for improved beta-galactosidase production and biotechnological applications. Biotechnology Advances. 2011;29(6):600-9.

56. Suzuki H. HowEnzymes Work: From Structure to Function: Jenny Stanford Publishing; 2020.

57. Scopes RK. Enzyme Activity and Assays: Macmillan Publishers Ltd.; 2002.

58. Kotz CM, Furne JK, Savaiano DA, Levitt MD. FACTORS AFFECTING THE ABILITY OF A HIGH BETA-GALACTOSIDASE YOGURT TO ENHANCE LACTOSE

ABSORPTION. Journal of Dairy Science. 1994;77(12):3538-44.

- 59. Simren M, Stotzer PO. Use and abuse of hydrogen breath tests. Gut. 2006;55(3):297-303.
- 60. Enzyme Assays. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- 61. Enzyme Assays Smart Note QA. In: Inc. TFS, editor. website2021.
- 62. Ahern K, & Rajagopal, I. Enzyme Parameters. 2021.

63. : ThermoFisher Scientific; [Available from:

https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/K145501#/K145501.

64. Ghai R, Falconer RJ, Collins BM. Applications of isothermal titration calorimetry in pure and applied researchusurvey of the literature from 2010. J Mol Recognit. 2012;25(1):32-52.

65. Arijaje EO, Jayanthi S, Kumar TKS, Wang YJ. Linear starch and hexanoic acid complexation evaluated by isothermal titration calorimetry. Starch-Starke. 2015;67(9-10):729-36.

66. Chanamai R, McClements DJ. Isothermal titration calorimetry measurement of enthalpy changes in monodisperse oil-in-water emulsions undergoing depletion flocculation. Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects. 2001;181(1-3):261-9.

67. Becher P. Basic theory/measurement/applications. United States1987.

68. Frazier RA, Papadopoulou A, Mueller-Harvey I, Kissoon D, Green RJ. Probing proteintannin interactions by isothermal titration microcalorimetry. J Agric Food Chem. 2003;51(18):5189-95.

69. Arroyo-Maya IJ, McClements DJ. Application of ITC in foods: A powerful tool for understanding the gastrointestinal fate of lipophilic compounds. Biochim Biophys Acta-Gen Subj. 2016;1860(5):1026-35.

70. Chan WKD, Mason M, Hansen LD, Kenealey JD. Measuring Enzymatic Stability by Isothermal Titration Calorimetry. J Vis Exp. 2019(145):9.

71. Warmerdam A. Synthesis of galacto-oligosaccharides with β -galactosidases: Wageningen University; 2013.

72. Huh KT, Toba T, Adachi S. OLIGOSACCHARIDE STRUCTURES FORMED DURING ACID-HYDROLYSIS OF LACTOSE. Food Chemistry. 1991;39(1):39-49.

73. Maksimainen M, Paavilainen S, Hakulinen N, Rouvinen J. Structural analysis, enzymatic characterization, and catalytic mechanisms of beta-galactosidase from Bacillus circulans sp alkalophilus. Febs Journal. 2012;279(10):1788-98.

74. Torres DPM, Goncalves MP, Teixeira JA, Rodrigues LR. Galacto-Oligosaccharides: Production, Properties, Applications, and Significance as Prebiotics. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety. 2010;9(5):438-54.

75. Kristine Zolnere IC. THE COMPARISON OF COMMERCIALLY AVAILABLE

β-GALACTOSIDASES FOR DAIRY INDUSTRY: REVIEW. Research for Rural Development. 2017;1.

76. Deaville ER, Green RJ, Mueller-Harvey I, Willoughby I, Frazier RA. Hydrolyzable tannin structures influence relative globular and random coil protein binding strengths. J Agric Food Chem. 2007;55(11):4554-61.

77. Bosso A, Morioka LRI, dos Santos LF, Suguimoto HH. Lactose hydrolysis potential and thermal stability of commercial beta-galactosidase in UHT and skimmed milk. Food Science and Technology. 2016;36(1):159-65.

78. Todar K. Todar's Online Textbook of Bacteriology. 2020.

79. Kowalczyk M, Mayo B, María Fernández M, Aleksandrzak-Piekarczyk T. Biotechnology of Lactic Acid Bacteria. Second ed: John Wiley and Sons; 2016.

80. Lactic Acid Bacteria : Microbiological and Functional Aspects: Taylor & Francis Group; 2019.

81. Dunne J, Evershed RP, Salque M, Cramp L, Bruni S, Ryan K, et al. First dairying in green Saharan Africa in the fifth millennium BC. Nature. 2012;486(7403):390-4.

82. F. T. Introduction. In: Chen W. (eds) Lactic Acid Bacteria. Springer, Singapore2019.

83. Gong C. Chinese Kimchi Processing Technology. Beijing: China Light Industry Press; 2011.

84. Scheele C. Om Mjölkochdesssyra, about milk and its acid. Kongliga Vetenskaps Academiens Nya Handlingar New Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Science; 1780. p. 116-24.

- 85. Pasteur L. Mémoiresur la fermentation appeléelactique. C R Chim; 1857. p. 913-6.
- 86. University C. Lactic Acid Bacteria- Homofermentative and Heterofermentative. 2008.

87. Hickey MW, Hillier AJ, Jago GR. Transport and Metabolism of Lactose, Glucose, and Galactose in Homofermentative Lactobacilli. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 1986;51(4):825-31.

88. Thompson J, Turner KW, Thomas TD. Catabolite Inhibition and Sequential Metabolism of Sugars by Streptococcus lactis. Journal of Bacteriology. 1978;133(3):1163-74.

89. Plumed-Ferrer C, Koistinen KM, Tolonen TL, Lehesranta SJ, Karenlampi SO, Makimattila E, et al. Comparative study of sugar fermentation and protein expression patterns of two Lactobacillus plantarum strains grown in three different media. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2008;74(17):5349-58.

90. Cai H, Rodriguez BT, Zhang W, Broadbent JR, Steele JL. Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of Lactobacillus casei strains isolated from different ecological niches suggests frequent recombination and niche specificity. Microbiology-Sgm. 2007;153:2655-65.

91. Lactobacillus Fermentum. UC Davis Viticulture and Enology.

92. da Silva CR, Delatorre AB, Martins MLL. Effect of the culture conditions on the production of an extracellular protease by thermophilic Bacillus sp and some properties of the enzymatic activity. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology. 2007;38(2):253-8.

93. Wierzbicki LE, Kosikowski FV. Lactase potential of various microorganisms grown in whey. Journal of Dairy Science. 1973;56(1):26-32.

94. Thongaram T, Hoeflinger JL, Chow J, Miller MJ. Prebiotic Galactooligosaccharide Metabolism by Probiotic Lactobacilli and Bifidobacteria. J Agric Food Chem. 2017;65(20):4184-92.

95. Montanari G, Zambonelli C, Grazia L, Benevelli M, Chiavari C. Release of beta-galactosidase from lactobacilli. Food Technology and Biotechnology. 2000;38(2):129-33.
96. Carevic M, Vukasinovic-Sekulic M, Grbavcic S, Stojanovic M, Mihailovic M,

96. Carevic M, Vukasinovic-Sekulic M, Grbavcic S, Stojanovic M, Mihailovic M, Dimitrijevic A, et al. Optimization of beta-galactosidase production from lactic acid bacteria. Hemijska Industrija. 2015;69(3):305-12.

97. Jimeno J, Casey M, Hofer F. THE OCCURRENCE OF BETA-GALACTOSIDASE AND BETA-PHOSPHOGALACTOSIDASE IN LACTOBACILLUS-CASEI STRAINS. Fems Microbiology Letters. 1984;25(2-3):275-8.